INVASIVE ALIEN PLANT SPECIES AND THEIR EFFECT ON THE HABITAT UTILIZATION OF MAMMAL SPECIES IN SHUKLAPHANTA NATIONAL PARK, NEPAL

Entry 33 M.Sc. Zoo Dent Ecology & Environ. Signature Amones Date: 2079-05 26th August 2022 KATHMA ICD/

CHANDRA CHAND

T.U. Registration No.: 5-2-61-26-2014

T.U. Examination Roll No.: Zoo 710/075

Batch: 2075

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the Degree of Master of Science in Zoology with special paper Ecology and Environment

Submitted To

Central Department of Zoology Institute of Science and Technology Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal August 2022

1. J.

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis has been done by myself, and has not been submitted elsewhere for the award for any degree. All sources of information have been specifically acknowledged by reference to author(s) or institution(s).

Date: 26 August 2022

fund

Ms. Chandra Chand



पत्र संख्या :-च.नं. Ref.No.:- कीर्तिपुर, कोठमाडौं, नेपाल। Kirtipur, Bathmandu, Negal.

RECOMMENDATIONS

This is to recommend that the thesis entitled "Invasive alien plant species and their effect on the habitat utilization of mammal species of Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal" has been carried out by Ms. Chandra Chand for the partial fulfillment of the degree of Master of Science in Zoology with special paper Ecology and Environment. This is her original work and has been carried out under my supervision. To the best of my knowledge, this thesis work has not been submitted for any other degree in any institution.

Date: 26 August 2022

Hari Prasad Sharma, PhD Associate Professor Central Department of Zoology Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal



पत्र संख्या :-च.नं. Ref.No.:-

iment of

LETTER OF APPROVAL

, Kirtiput

On the recommendation of the supervisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Hari Prasad Sharma, this thesis submitted by Ms. Chandra Chand entitled "Invasive alien plant species and their effect on the habitat utilization of mammal species of Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal" is approved for the examination for the partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Zoology with special paper Ecology and Environment.

Date: 26 August 2022

Tej Bahadur Thapa, PhD Professor and Head of Department Central Department of Zoology Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal



पत्र संख्या :-च.नं. Ref.No.:- Alldyr, and High, Aure I Kirtipur, Katlanandu, Nepal.

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE

The thesis work submitted by Ms. Chandra Chand entitled "Invasive alien plant species and their effect on the habitat utilization of mammal species of Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal" has been accepted as partial fulfillment for the requirements of the degree of Master of Science in Zoology with special paper Ecology and Environment.

EVALUATION COMMITTE

Supervisor

Assoc. Prof. Hari Prasad Sharma, PhD Central Department of Zoology Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal

Sheertha

External ExaminerInProf. Bharat Babu Shrestha, PhDACentral Department of BotanyCTribhuvan UniversityTKirtipur, Kathmandu, NepalKDate of Examination: 2079 - 05 - 2914th September 2022

Head of Department Prof. Tej Bahadur Thapa, PhD Central Department of Zoology Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal

Internal Examiner

Asst. Prof. Bishnu Prashad Bhattarai, PhD

Central Department of Zoology

Tribhuvan University

Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Associate Professor Dr. Hari Prasad Sharma, Central Department of Zoology, for giving me the opportunity to do research under his supervision and providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. His dynamism, vision, sincerity and motivation have deeply inspired me.

I would also like to thank Professor Dr. Tej Bahadur Thapa, Head of Department of the Central Department of Zoology for providing administrative supports and facilities. I would also like to acknowledge with much appreciation to my respected teaching and non-teaching staffs of the Central Department of Zoology, for their kind support, guidance, and feedback on my research project and other academic courses during my study at the department.

I highly indebted to National Youth Council, Ministry of Youth and Sports, Government of Nepal, Sanothimi, Bhaktapur, for providing research grants for this study.

I thank to Department of National Parks and Wildlife Conservation and Suklaphanta National Park for providing me research permission to conduct this work. I express my especial thank to Mrs. Bhagrathi Bam, Ms. Sangeeta Chand, Ms. Prakriti Pant, Mr. Devraj Joshi, Mr. Purandev Mishra, Mr. Yam Rawat, Ms. Sharmila Tamang and Mr. Sandeep Regmi for their constant assistance throughout the research work.

I express my sincere gratitude to my guardians, who have supported economically, encouraged me throughout the time and during field works. I am very grateful to all people who encouraged me to study and all my friends for their direct and indirect help in completing this work.

Chandra Chand

T.U. Regd. No. : 5-2-61-26-2014

Batch: 2075

Email: chandrachand444@gmail.com

Contact No.: 9848724258

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DECLARATION | i |
|---|------|
| RECOMMENDATIONS | ii |
| LETTER OF APPROVAL | iii |
| CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE | iv |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | v |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | vi |
| LIST OF TABLES | viii |
| LIST OF FIGURES | ix |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMES | X |
| ABSTRACT | xi |
| 1. INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 1.1 Background | 1 |
| 1.2 Objectives | 3 |
| 1.2.1 General objective | 3 |
| 1.2.2 Specific objectives | 3 |
| 1.3 Rationale of the study | 3 |
| 1.4. Limitation of the study | 4 |
| 2. LITERATURE REVIEW | 5 |
| 2.1. Invasive alien plant species and their threats | 5 |
| 2.2. IAPS effects on mammal species | 6 |
| 2.3. IAPS in protected areas | 8 |
| 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS | 9 |
| 3.1 Study Area | 9 |
| 3.2 Field data collection | 10 |
| 3.3. Data Analysis | 11 |

| 3.3.1 Density and Relative Density11 |
|--|
| 3.3.2 Frequency and Relative Frequency11 |
| 3.3.3 Cover-class Scale Value and Relative Cover-class Scale Value |
| 3.3.4 Importance Value Index |
| 3.3.5 Statistical Data Analysis |
| 4. RESULTS |
| 4.1 Species composition of IAPS14 |
| 4.2. Mammal Species composition17 |
| 5. DISCUSSION |
| 5.1 Plant invasions in ShNP25 |
| 5.2 Impacts of IAPS on mammal species25 |
| 5.3 Implications for IAPS management |
| 6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS |
| 6.1 Conclusion |
| 6.2 Recommendations |
| REFERENCES |
| APPENDICES |
| PHOTO PLATES45 |

LIST OF TABLES

| TablesTitle of Tables | Pages |
|---|---------|
| Table 1: Importance Value Index (IVI) of different IAPS in IAPS invaded habit | at. RD |
| = Relative density; RF = Relative frequency; RC = Relative cover | r-class |
| scale value; IVI = Importance Value Index, Shuklaphanta National | Park, |
| Nepal, 2021 | 15 |
| Table 2: Mammal species in the study area Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, | 202119 |
| Table 3: Threatened mammal species presence in IAPS presence and absence has | abitats |
| of Shuklaphanta National Park, Kanchanpur, Nepal 2021. Range of re | ported |
| values are given in parentheses. *Significant effects are in | bold, |
| Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | 22 |
| Table 4: Model- averaged variables estimates describing the threatened ma | ammal |
| species presence in the IAPS invaded habitat of Shuklaphanta Nationa | ıl Park |
| Nepal. Model variables include invasive alien plants species cover, di | stance |
| to forest (m), distance to water (m), distance to road (m). Estimates | s were |
| averaged from all models. *Significant effects are in bold, Shuklag | phanta |
| National Park, Nepal, 2021 | 24 |
| Table 5: Model- averaged variables estimates describing the mammal s | pecies |
| presence in the IAPS presence habitat of Shuklaphanta National Park | Nepal. |
| Model variables include invasive alien plant species cover, distance to | forest |
| (m), distance to water (m), distance to road (m). Estimates were ave | eraged |
| from all models. *Significant effects are in bold, Shuklaphanta Na | ational |
| Park, Nepal, 2021 | 44 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figures | Title of Figures | Pages |
|-----------|---|------------------|
| Figure 1: | Study area in Shuklaphanta National Park | 10 |
| Figure 2: | Frequency of IAPS, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | 14 |
| Figure 3: | Frequency of IAPS compared to nearest (A) forest, (B) water, (C) road, (E settlement area and (E) agricultural land | D) 16 |
| Figure 4: | Number of mammal species in different Orders, Shuklaphanta Nation Park, Nepal, 2021 | al 17 |
| Figure 5: | Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invade habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest fores Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | ed st, 22 |
| Figure 6: | Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invade habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest wate source, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | ed er 23 |
| Figure 7: | Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invade habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest road Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | ed d, 23 |
| Figure 8: | Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invade habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest huma settlement, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | ed an 23 |
| Figure 9: | Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invade habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to neare | ed st |
| | agricultural land, Snuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021 | 24 |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMES

| Abbreviated form | Details of Abbreviations |
|------------------|---|
| IAPS | Invasive Alien Plant Species |
| ShNP | Shuklaphanta National Park |
| GPS | Global Positioning System |
| GIS | Geographic Information System |
| IVI | Importance Value Index |
| IUCN | International Union of Conservation of Nature |

ABSTRACT

The introduction and colonization of invasive alien plant species (IAPS) is one of the most serious threat to the conservation of native flora and fauna. Such threats are noted in the various protected areas including lowlands of Nepal with negative impacts on the species and ecosystem services. The impacts of IAPS on threatened mammal species especially on their occurrences is little known. This study identified the effects of IAPS on the occurrence and habitat utilization of threatened mammal species at Shuklaphanta National Park (ShNP), Nepal from 11 November 2020 to 11 June 2021. During the study period, ShNP was categorized into IAPS invaded and non-invaded habitats. The occurrence of threatened mammal species was recorded from 210 plots of 10 m X 10 m along the line transect. Altogether 11 IAPS were recorded among seven families during this study. Among them Blue Billygoat Weed (Ageratum houstonianum) was abundant species in the study area. Altogether 25 mammal species were recorded in the study area, whereas 11 mammal species were threatened. Among the threatened mammal species, 10 species were in IAPS invaded habitat and all 11 species in IAPS non-invaded habitat. In IAPS invaded habitat, the sign of Fishing Cat (Prionailurus viverrinus) was recorded only from IAPS non-invaded habitat. The higher occurrence of threatened mammal species was recorded nearer the forest as the abundance of IAPS decreased with decreasing distance to the forest. In addition, the higher occurrence of mammal species was found with increasing the distance to water source, distance to road, distance to human settlement and distance to agricultural land as the abundance of IAPS decreased with increasing distance to water source, road, human settlement and agricultural land. The threatened mammal species utilizes the IAPS noninvaded habitat rather than the IAPS invaded habitat. For providing suitable habitat for threatened mammal species, the removal or control of the invasive alien plant species from ShNP is recommended.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The species either accidentally or deliberately move away from their native areas are alien species (Pysek et al. 2004). These alien species with high reproductive rates and their potential to spread rapidly over large areas are regarded as invasive alien species and are both plants and animals (Lowe et al. 2000, Pysek et al. 2004). The rapid spreading of invasive alien plant species (IAPS) is increasing especially on different land uses in the changing climate (Meyerson and Mooney 2007) and infrastructure development including road and transportation (Adhikari et al. 2020). With globalization, the transportation of IAPS has also been increased through trade, tourism, travel and other human disturbances or activities (Lahkar et al. 2011) and such disturbance are particularly suitable for IAPS (Mack et al. 2000, Knight et al. 2009).

Furthermore, many tourism-related activities, such as, boating and fishing had promoted the distribution of IAPS (Pathak et al. 2021). The promotion of tourism in protected areas such as Chitwan National Park, substantially increased the movement of people into these protected areas, resulted in rapid spread of IAPS into the protected area (Murphy et al. 2013). In addition, various non-native species are introduced to the area outside of their natural range in order to enhance tourism (Arismendi and Nahuelhual 2007), for example, sports fish species such as Salmon and Trout are intentionally introduced into non-earthly habitat to strengthen the possibilities of recreational fishing in Lake Llanquihue in Southern Chile. Typically, IAPS produce either large number of viable seeds (Brooks et al. 2004), and often display early sexual maturity (Pysek et al. 2003). This, in turn, minimizes the competition from native species and enhances the chances of survival of IAPS (Mack et al. 2000, Knight et al. 2009). IAPS can have remarkable negative interactions with native flora and fauna (Mooney et al. 2005, Hardesty-Moore et al. 2020). Major impacts of IAPS include the loss of native species and biodiversity (Kohli et al. 2006), habitat alteration (Murphy et al. 2013), and deterioration of ecosystem productivity and nutrient cycling (Charles and Dukes 2008, Vila et al. 2011).

After the several generations, the IAPS adapt to the introduced habitat (Baker 1986), as they are more likely to adapt to new climatic conditions (Hellmann et al. 2008) and negatively impact the ecosystem (Vila et al. 2011, Shrestha and Shrestha 2021). Several studies had showed that due to the presence of water soluble phenolic and sesquiterpene lactones, such as parthenin in Parthenium, they exhibited allelopathic nature (Timsina et al. 2011). As a consequence of these chemicals, the growth of other plants through the contamination of soil was inhibited (Belz et al. 2007, Rashid et al. 2008). As a result IAPS become dominant in the introduced habitat (Khaniya and Shrestha 2020).

In some localities people use some IAPS as a food, medicine, fuel, or fodder mainly as a part of their control (Kull et al. 2007). For examples, Silver Wattles (*Acacia dealbata*), Black Wattles (*A. mearnsii*) and Green Wattles (*A. decurrens*) are used globally for economic, environmental and ornamental purpose (Kull et al. 2007). Sometimes IAPS were used as alternative sources of fodder for livestock (Shrestha et al. 2018). However, invasive alien plant species have negative impact on agricultural production, forest regeneration (Shrestha et al. 2018), livestock grazing (Lahkar et al. 2011, Khaniya and Shrestha 2020) and human health (Rai and Singh 2020). For example, habitat uses by Indian Muntjac (*Muntiacus muntjak*) in Baluran National Park, Java, revealed their avoidance of IAPS invaded habitat (Tyson 2007).

Biological invasions can have impacts on pollinator communities as they divert pollinators and dispersers of native species towards themselves (Aravind et al. 2010). The berries of Lantana (*Lantana camara*), attract frugivorous birds and mammals, help to disperse seeds widely (Aravind et al. 2010). Hence, hinder the reproductive success of native species (Brown et al. 2002). Physiographic and climatic diversity of Nepal providing habitats for the species from various part of world (Chaudhary et al. 2020), however the effects of invasion have been very limited. Therefore, the research on the potential extent of IAPS and its impacts on the occurrence and habitat use of mammal species in Shuklaphanta National Park (ShNP) Nepal is prerequisite for identification of habitat of mammal species that are vulnerable to invasion by IAPS and will be immensely helpful for the park managers to chalk out a robust management strategy for controlling the invasive species in the park.

1.2 Objectives

1.2.1 General objective

The overall aim of the study was to identify the effects of invasive alien plant species on the habitat utilization of mammals in ShNP.

1.2.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of the study were:

- i. To assess the abundance of invasive alien species in ShNP.
- ii. To identify the impacts of IAPS on the occurrence of mammal species in ShNP.

1.3 Rationale of the study

Invasive alien plant species (IAPS) are spreading into protected areas worldwide (Foxcroft et al. 2017). They are one of the major factors for increasing biodiversity loss (Kohli et al. 2006, Shrestha and Shrestha 2021), and are believed to be the second largest factor (Vitousek et al. 1996). In addition, their impact is noticed through encroachment and habitat loss (Bhattarai 2012). They showed negative impacts on native species, habitat alteration (Shrestha et al. 2015, Chaudhary et al. 2016) and nutrient cycling (Rai and Singh 2020, Pathak et al. 2021); thus alter structure and function of ecosystem (Charles and Dukes 2008) and this in turn can affect the distribution and habitat utilization of mammal species (Aravind et al. 2010).

Although the effect of IAPS on native flora and fauna, including endemic species are increasing in Nepal (Shrestha and Shrestha 2021), we have little knowledge on their distribution and spreading factors. The spread of IAPS in protected areas including Ramsar sites is a special case of concern (Vitousek et al. 1996, Basaula et al. 2021). They cover the habitat of threatened faunal species (Ferdinands et al. 2005). This may alter the highly preferred habitat of mammal species into less preferred habitat and access to threatened mammals which are critical to ecosystem (Murphy et al. 2013.

Though the studies on the IAPS and their distribution are carried out now a days, there are countable studies that have looked at the effect of IAPS on mammal species (Adhikari et al. 2022). It means that managers/policy makers have insufficient data on

the severity of the impact of invasive alien plant species on mammal species in Nepal. It's creating a problem for developing policies for minimizing the effect rate. Therefore, the data obtained from this study can be used by policy makers for developing a site-species specific management plan.

1.4. Limitation of the study

> The study had limited on the study of invasive alien plant species.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Biological invasion had been considered as one of the causes of global environmental changes (Vitousek et al. 1996) and a leading cause of decline and loss of native biodiversity (Kohli et al. 2006) and ecosystem services (Pejchar and Mooney 2009). The negative impact of IAPS was intensified by ongoing climate change (Simberloff 2000). The prevalence of IAPS was noticed globally, but their impact is likely to be higher in developing countries like Nepal due to lack of expertise and limited resources available for their management (Shrestha 2016). In Nepal, of 182 naturalized flowering plants, 27 species are IAPS (Shrestha and Shrestha 2021), four species, Siam Weed (*Chromolaena odorata*), Lantana (*Lantana camara*), Mile-a-minute Weed (*Mikania micrantha*), and Water Hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*), are among the World's 100 worst invasive alien species (Lowe et al. 2000).

2.1. Invasive alien plant species and their threats

Globally the biological invasion had been considered as the second major cause of biodiversity loss next to habitat degradation (Gaertner et al. 2009). Invasive alien plant species (IAPS) had negative effect on native species (Bradley et al. 2018), and cause a substantial decline in the abundance and diversity of native plant species (Pyšek et al. 2012, Bhatta et al. 2020, Utz et al. 2020). The IAPS invades in agro ecosystems and the natural environment including protected areas and Ramsar sites from tropical lowland to temperate mountainous region (Shrestha 2019). IAPS become a major threat to our environment and economy (Shabbir and Bajwa 2006). IAPS remarkably reduced the fitness and growth of native plant species (Vila et al. 2011). The impact of IAPS were mainly reported from biodiversity loss, livestock poisoning, reduced agricultural production and forage supply (Shrestha et al. 2018).

The impact of IAPS such as modification of the plant community structure and suppression of native plant species growth had been reported globally (Singh et al. 2014). Along with vehicles used (Adhikari et al. 2020), natural dispersal such as river (Nath et al. 2019, Bhatta et al. 2020) and human settlement affect significantly the introduction of IAPS into new sites (Nath et al. 2019). Furthermore, the nearness of the protected areas to settlement might promote the invasions (Simberloff 2009). The forest edges might trap the seeds of IAPS carried through wind (Joshi et al. 2015).

Thus, facilitated the invasion (McNab and Loftis 2002) as they ease the establishment of IAPS (Baret et al. 2008, Joshi et al. 2015). The amount of light required for the growth and reproduction of most IAPS was reduced by the high tree canopy cover (Baret et al. 2008). The number of IAPS found in the interior of the forest with high tree canopy was not as much as found at forest edge and gap (Khaniya and Shrestha 2020). Several other studies also had showed a decline in the abundance or species richness of IAPS with increasing canopy cover (McNab and Loftis 2002). This lessen the probability of invasion by IAPS and their colonization in forest ecosystem (Hartman and McCarthy 2008). While thinning of the canopy elevated the level of light which energized the germination and establishment of IAPS (Baret et al. 2008).

Thus, IAPS were less common in undisturbed forest (Shrestha et al. 2017). With steady increased in human movement and global trade, the intensity of biological invasion had been increased in all ecosystems and landscapes (Shrestha 2017). Human activities increased propagule pressure of IAPS (Simberloff 2009). Wetland IAPS like Water Hyacinth and Water Lettuce (*Pistia stratioites*) were also transported to new locations for their ornamental values (Shrestha et al. 2017). Bush-morning Glory (*Ipomoea carnea*) had been introduced to hilly region for controlling soil erosion along roadside and also as hedge plant in agro ecosystem (Shrestha et al. 2017, Shrestha and Shrestha 2021).

2.2. IAPS effects on mammal species

Invasive alien plant species (IAPS) can alter the ecosystem; reduce the availability of food resources; cause the mammal species to change the way of habitat utilization (Dutra et al. 2011). IAPS dominance over habitat; decreased diversity of food resources available for herbivores and omnivores (Brooks et al. 2004, Rerani 2019). Because of this, the food available for carnivores also decreased. Thus, the distribution and abundance of mammal species have been influenced significantly through effects on habitats and resources (Ogutu and Owen-Smith 2003). The National Trust for Nature Conservation in recent years suggested that the Greater One-horned Rhino (*Rhinoceros unicornis*) (Murphy et al. 2013), and other large herbivore populations had declined in areas with high Mikania infestation (Lahkar et al. 2011). Therefore, IAPS was likely to destroy primary habitats of threatened and important species (Lahkar et al. 2011, Murphy et al. 2013). Several studies revealed

that with increasing abundance of IAPS, abundance and diversity of the smallmammal community decreased (Freeman et al. 2014).

Similarly, Shrestha et al. (2015) and Shrestha et al. (2019) suggested that Parthenium had been expanding its distribution to the habitats of endangered mammals. Likewise, a handful of studies from Asia recommended large herbivores were currently facing unprecedented challenges from habitat loss (Ahrestani and Sankaran 2016). For example Four-horned Antelope (*Tetracerus quadricornis*) showed the negative influence by Lantana in the tropical forests of India (Baskaran et al. 2011). Similarly, Mesquite (*Prosopis juliflora*) modifying the natural ecological processes (Shackleton et al. 2015) with negative implications for wild ungulates (Adhikari et al. 2022). IAPS invasion into open grasslands affected the Deer species (Arandhara et al. 2021, Adhikari et al. 2022); directly by reducing the habitat and also indirectly by reducing the grass biomass on which it feeds (Arandhara et al. 2021).

Globally, IAPS endangered the sensitive and biodiverse ecosystem by altering riparian watersheds (Lambert et al. 2010). These were key habitat for carnivores and other mammal species (Hardesty-Moore et al. 2020). But a couple of studies put forwarded sometimes mono-specific stands of IAPS encouraged the foraging of consumer as they restructured the habitat for them, especially who benefit in the altered habitat (Utz et al. 2020). The dense stands of IAPS might protect small mammals from predators, which in turn could increase foraging pressure on seeds that small mammals feed upon (Dutra et al. 2011, Utz et al. 2020).

Moreover, IAPS might lead to decline in small mammals if they provide fewer food resources compared to the native species they displaced (Utz et al. 2020). For example, the abundance and diversity of mammal species decreased as the abundance of Cheat Grass (*Bromus tectorum*) has increased. The change in the small mammal communities likely effected through higher and lower trophic levels and had the potential to cause major changes in ecosystem structure and function (Freeman et al. 2014). Large mammal species utilized the IAPS non-invaded habitat and the cleared areas more than the IAPS invaded habitat (Rerani 2019) due to which species richness, abundance and diversity decreased with increasing invasion duration and cleared areas (Rerani 2019). However, these protected areas also face a number of

management challenges, and one of these is an increasing number and abundance of IAPS (MFSC 2017, Bhattarai et al. 2017).

2.3. IAPS in protected areas

Despite the fact that protected areas are crucial for biodiversity preservation and the provision of essential ecosystem services (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005), invasive alien plant species threatened the ecological integrity of protected areas worldwide (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005, Foxcroft et al. 2007). There is a lack of comprehensive data on the effects of alien species in protected areas at the international and/or regional levels (GISP 2007). IAPS can spread naturally through river water, birds, and mammals as well as into and inside protected regions (Foxcroft et al. 2007). A protected ecosystem has a number of entry points for IAPS, including human-dominated boundaries, linking roadways, and natural systems like rivers (Foxcroft et al., 2007).

The richness of the IAPS also increases as the number of visitors to protected areas rises (Allen et al. 2009). They may deteriorate and lessen wildlife habitat and foraging areas, deplete soil and water supplies, and lessen the native diversity of the area (DiTomaso et al., 2010; Hulme et al. 2013). Recent, progressive human encroachment at protected area limits (Radeloff et al. 2010), should be particularly concerning as it will increase the supply of alien plant propagules. The pressure caused by IAPS in protected areas may be indicated by species inventories, but further work is needed to assess the impacts of invasive alien plant species. The issues brought on by IAPS, entering protected areas pose a significant difficulty in addition to, and frequently in conjunction with, existing challenges (Loope et al. 1988: Macdonald et al. 1988). Furthermore, managers urgently need an acceptable evidence base to prioritize control targets (Cook et al. 2010) because just a small percentage of IAPS in protected areas are expected to constitute a harm to biodiversity (Groves 2002; Hulme 2012). Unfortunately, the evidence base to support effective and targeted management of invasive alien plant species in protected areas is often poor (Andreu et al. 2009).

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study Area

This study was conducted in Shuklaphanta National Park (ShNP; 28°45'- 28°57'N to 80°07'-80°21'E), which is located in a lowland of Sudur Paschhim Province of Nepal (Figure 1). It comprises an area of 305 km² with 243.5 km² of buffer zone. The park was established in 1976 as a Shuklaphanta Wildlife Reserve for the conservation of Barasingha (Recervus duvaucelii) population in Nepal. The ShNP's main habitat includes forest, grassland and wetland (Shrestha and Pantha 2018). The species composition of the forest are Sal (Shorea robusta), Kadam (Adina cordifolia), Kumkum (Mallotus philippinensis), Jamun (Syzygium cumini), Pitalu (Trewia nudiflora), Crape Myrtle (Lagertroemia parviflora), Bahera (Terminalia bellirica), and Chebulic Myrobalan (Terminalia chebula). Shuklaphata is the largest grassland with an area of approximate 16 km² dominated by Congon Grass (Imperata cylindrical), Baruwa Sugarcane (Saccharum bengalensis), Wild Sugarcane (Saccharum spontaneum), and Halfa Grass (Desmostachya bipinnata). A total of 56 mammal species has been recorded from the ShNP (Poudyal et al. 2020). This park is a home to endangered wildlife species including Bengal Tiger (Panthara tigris tigris), Asian Elephant (Elephas maximus) and Greater One-horned Rhino (Rhinoceros unicornis). Barasingha, Spotted Deer (Axis axis), Hog Deer (Axis porcinus), Samber Deer (Rusa unicolor), Northern Red Muntjac (Muntiacus vaginalis), Wild Boar (Sus scrofa), and Nilgai (Boselaphustrago camelus) are the main species of ungulates. The people in the buffer zone are mainly engaged in agriculture and animal husbandry. They rely heavily on the park for cattle grazing and firewood food lumber and grass collection (Bot 2003).



Figure 1: Study area in Shuklaphanta National Park

3.2 Field data collection

The preliminary study was conducted from 28 October to 3 November 2020, and the potential invasive alien plant species (IAPS) sites within the park were identified following consultation with park officials and field visits. During that time, the study area was categorized as IAPS invaded (if any invasive species cover the area >10%) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (if the area is without invasive plant species or sparsely distributed i.e. less than 10% coverage). The study area was at the grassland and forests of ShNP. A total of 42 transects with approximately 250 m length were established from 11 November 2020 to 11 June 2021 equally in both habitats. The interval between two transects was at least 250 m. Sometimes, the variation in length was made due to the presence of rivers, stream or lakes. Five plots of 10 m X 10 m were established along the transect, alternately at the interval of 50 m. In each plot, five nested subplots with 1 m X 1m were established: four at the corners and one at the center of the plot. In the plot, presence/absence of IAPS, individual of each IAPS species (in IAPS presence habitat), forest canopy (in the forest sites), sign of herbivores and carnivores mammal species such as foot prints, scratches, burrows,

and fecal were recorded. In addition, the elevation and latitude and longitude of each plot were also recorded by Global Positioning System (Garmin Etrex 10). Furthermore, the nearest distance to the forest, agricultural land, road, household, and water sources were also recorded with GPS from the center of each plot, however, the distance >250 m was measured with Geographic Information System. Three nested subplots were used diagonally for observation. The IAPS number was counted from the nested subplots. IAPS cover of individual species was estimated visually by cover-class scale value (Zobel et al. 1987). The sign of each mammal species was identified in the field whereas confused sign was verified with the sign of zoo animals at Central Zoo, Lalitpur, Nepal.

3.3. Data Analysis

Both ecological and statistical data analysis were performed. The IAPS density, frequency, abundance, relative density, relative frequency, relative abundance and Importance Value Index (IVI) were calculated.

3.3.1 Density and Relative Density

Density represents the numerical strength of a species in the study area. Density is an average number of individuals of a given species over the total number of samples studied in an area. Density and relative density was calculated following Curtis (1951).

Density =
$$rac{ ext{Total number of individuals of a species}}{ ext{Total number of quadrat studied}}$$

Relative Density = $rac{ ext{Number of individual of species} imes 100}{ ext{Total number of quadrat}}$

3.3.2 Frequency and Relative Frequency

Frequency is the number of sampling units (as %) in which a particular species occurs. Frequency and relative Frequency was calculated as per Curtis (1951).

$$Frequency = \frac{Total number of quadrat studied \times 100}{Total number of sampling units}$$

$$Relative frequency = \frac{Frequency of the species \times 100}{Total frequency of all species}$$

3.3.3 Cover-class Scale Value and Relative Cover-class Scale Value

The technique involves visually designating different six cover classes to each quadrat. Each species within the quadrat is usually assessed separately. Canopy cover is typically considered as ground cover and basal cover are difficult to estimate.

| _ |
|---|

3.3.4 Importance Value Index

The importance value index is ecological measure that gives an overall picture of the importance of the species in the vegetation community. It is calculated as the sum of relative frequency, relative density and relative coverage for each species (Curtis 1951).

IVI = RD + RF + RC

Where RD = Relative density; RF = Relative frequency; RC = Relative cover-class scale value; IVI = Importance value index

3.3.5 Statistical Data Analysis

A descriptive statistic including mean, standard deviation and percentage were calculated. A Chi-square and Mann-Whitney U Test were calculated to determine the difference in IAPS invaded and non-invaded habitat for categorical and continuous data, respectively. Logistic regression was performed to determine the effects of

IAPS on threatened mammal species in the study area. Five variables including invasive alien plant species cover, distance to nearest forest (m), distance to nearest water source (m), distance to road (m) and tree canopy (%) were tested for correlation with threatened mammal species presence. All statistical test were performed in R Program (R Core Team 2019).

4. RESULTS

4.1 Species composition of IAPS

Altogether 210 plots (IAPS invaded habitat: 105; IAPS non-invaded habitat: 105) were surveyed during this study period. A total of 11 invasive alien plant species from seven families were recorded during this study. Among the recorded species, 36.37% (n = 4) species belongs to Asteraceae, and followed by Fabaceae (18.18%, n = 2), and single species of each family Papaveraceae, Amaranthaceae, Verbenaceae, Lamiaceae, and Convolvulaceae.

In IAPS invaded habitat, the Blue Billygoat Weed (*Ageratum houstonianum*) was recorded from 49.52% (n = 52 of 105) of plots, and followed by Sickle Senna (*Senna tora*) 38.10%, (n = 40 of 105), Lantana (*Lantana camara*) 20.95%, (n = 22 of 105), Parthenium (*Parthenium hysterophorus*) 20%, (n = 21 of 105), Coffee Senna (*Senna occidentalis*) 19.05%, (n = 20 of 105), Bushmint (*Mesosphaerum suaveolenes*) 15.24%, (n = 16 of 105), Billygoat (*Ageratum conzyoides*) 12.38%, (n = 13 of 105), Mexican Poppy (*Argemone mexicana*) 8.57%, (n = 9 of 105), Rough Cocklebur (*Xanthium strumarium*) 7.62%, (n = 8 of 105), and Spiny Pigweed (*Amaranthus spinosus*), and Bush Morning Glory (*Ipomea carnea*) both had 5.71% (n = 6 of 105) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Frequency of IAPS, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

The highest Importance Value Index was recorded for *A. houstonianum* (110.48), and followed by *S. tora* (105.18), *P. hysterophorus* (31.11), *M. suaveolenes* (11.21) and *L. camara* (10.69). Likewise, IAPS with lowest IVI was *I. carnea* (2.87), followed by *A. spinosus* (2.95), *X. strumarium* (3.95), *A. mexicana* (4.33), *A. conzyoides* (7.26), and *S. occidentalis* (9.98) (Table 1).

Table 1: Importance Value Index (IVI) of different IAPS in IAPS invaded habitat. RD = Relative density; RF = Relative frequency; RC = Relative cover-class scale value; IVI = Importance Value Index, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

| IAPS | Density | RD | Frequency | RF | Cover-class scale value | RC | IVI |
|--------------------------|---------|-------|-----------|-------|-------------------------|-------|-------|
| Ageratum houstonianum | 98.31 | 43.22 | 49.50 | 24.42 | 25.95 | 12.36 | 79.63 |
| Senna tora | 98.69 | 43.38 | 38.10 | 18.78 | 19.49 | 9.28 | 71.08 |
| Lantana camara | 0.41 | 0.18 | 20.95 | 10.33 | 2.32 | 1.10 | 11.61 |
| Parthenium hysterophorus | 24.27 | 10.67 | 20.00 | 9.86 | 4.24 | 2.02 | 22.46 |
| Senna occidentalis | 0.68 | 0.31 | 19.05 | 9.39 | 1.15 | 0.55 | 10.23 |
| Mesosphaerum suaveolenes | 4.22 | 1.86 | 15.24 | 7.51 | 1.92 | 0.91 | 10.26 |
| Ageratum conzyoides | 0.36 | 0.16 | 12.38 | 6.10 | 0.01 | 0.00 | 7.09 |
| Argemone mexicana | 0.12 | 0.06 | 8.57 | 4.23 | 1.12 | 0.53 | 4.81 |
| Xanthium strumarium | 0.22 | 0.10 | 7.62 | 3.76 | 0.99 | 0.47 | 4.33 |
| Amaranthus spinosus | 0.15 | 0.07 | 5.71 | 2.82 | 0.14 | 0.07 | 2.96 |
| Ipomoea carnea | 0.06 | 0.03 | 5.71 | 2.82 | 0.38 | 0.18 | 3.03 |

The IAPS occurrence was increased with increasing distance to forest (Figure 3). The abundance of IAPS varied from study plots to the forest distance. Fewer IAPS invaded plots were found near to the forest [10% (0-200 m); 10.39% (201-400 m); 10.97% (401-600 m); 14.96% (601-800 m); 16.84% (801-1000 m); and 36.64% (1001-1200 m)]. The IAPS abundance was decreased with increasing distance to water (Figure 3). The higher IAPS distribution was found nearer to water sources [64.10% (0-1000 m); 14.32% (1001-2000 m); 11.64% (2001-3000 m); 4.01% (3001-4000 m); 2.66% (4001-5000 m); 1.98% (5001-6000 m); 1.31% (6001-7000 m)]. The

IAPS abundance was decreased with increasing distance to settlement area (Figure 3). The higher IAPS distribution was found near to settlement area [73.10% (0-1500 m); 23.48% (1501-3000 m); 2.07% (3001-4500 m); 1.27% (4501-6000 m) and 0.07% (6001-7500 m)]. The IAPS abundance was decreased with increasing distance to agricultural land (Figure 3). The higher IAPS distribution was found near to agricultural land [75.82% (0-1500 m); 22.35% (1501-3000 m); 1.54% (3001-4500 m); 0.23% (4501-6000 m) and 0.07% (6001-7500 m)]. The IAPS abundance was decreased with increasing distance to road (Figure 3). The higher IAPS distribution must be abundance was decreased with increasing distance was decreased with increasing distance to road (Figure 3). The higher IAPS distribution must be abundance was decreased with increasing distance to road (Figure 3). The higher IAPS distribution was found near to road [48.58% (0-500 m); 22.53% (501-1000 m); 19.84% (1001-1500 m); 7.92% (1501-2000 m) and 1.34% (2001-2500 m)].



Figure 3: Frequency of IAPS compared to nearest (A) forest, (B) water, (C) road, (D) settlement area and (E) agricultural land

4.2. Mammal Species composition

Altogether 25 mammal species from seven orders and 14 families were recorded in the study plots during this study (Table 2). Order Carnivora had the highest diversity (10 species; 40%; five families), and followed by Artiodactyla (seven species; 23.33%; three families), Rodentia (two species; 6.67%; two families), Lagomorpha and Primates (two species; 6.67%; one family) and Proboscidea and Perissodactyla (one species; 3.30%; one family) (Figure 8). Among them, 11 species of mammals have been included in IUCN Redlist of Threatened Species (IUCN 2022). There wasn't variation on occurrence of mammal species between IAPS invaded and non-invaded habitat (Supplementary Table 1), while the threatened mammal species had negative response toward IAPS invaded habitat (Table 5).



Figure 4: Number of mammal species in different Orders, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

In IAPS non-invaded habitat, the mammal species were recorded in 88.57% (n = 93 of 105) of plots; order Artiodactyla was recorded in 91.40% (n = 85 of 93) of plots and followed by Carnivora 54.84% (n = 51 of 93), Proboscidea 30.11% (n = 28 of 93), Perissodactyla and Rodentia 15.05% (n = 14 of 93), Primates 10.75% (n= 10 of 93) and Lagomorpha 6.45% (n = 6 of 93), whereas the threatened mammal species were recorded from 63.81% (n = 67 of 105) of plots; order Proboscidea was recorded from 41.79% (n = 28 of 67) of plots and followed by Artiodactyla 37.31% (n = 25 of

67), Carnivora 28.35% (n = 19 of 67), Perissodactyla 20.90% (n = 14 of 67) and each Lagomorpha and Primates had 1.49% (n = 1 of 67).

In IAPS invaded habitat, the mammal species were recorded from 84.76% (n = 89 of 105) of plots; order Artiodactyla was recorded from 94.38% (n = 84 of 89) of plots and followed by Carnivora 51.69% (n = 46 of 89) of plots, Proboscidea 21.35% (n = 19 of 89) of plots, Rodentia 19.10% (n = 17 of 89) of plots, Primates 13.48% (n = 12 of 89) of plots, Perissodactyla 8.99% (n = 8 of 89) and Lagomorpha 7.87% (n = 7 of 89) of plots, whereas the threatened mammal species were recorded from 50.48% (n = 53 of 105) of plots. The occurrence of threatened mammal species was reduced as compared to IAPS non-invaded plots. In these plots, order Proboscidea was recorded from 35.85% (n = 19 of 53) of IAPS presence plots, which is followed by Artiodactyla 43.59% (n = 17 of 53), Carnivora 13.30% (n = 14 of 53), Perissodactyla 15.09% (n = 8 of 53), Lagomorpha 5.13% (n = 2 of 53) and Primates 2.56% (n = 1 of 53).

| Table 2: Mamma | l species in the | study area S | huklaphanta Na | tional Park, Nepal, 2021 |
|----------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|--------------------------|
|----------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|--------------------------|

| Name of mammal species | Scietific Name | Habitat | Order | Family | IUCN status | Feeding guild |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|-----------------|-------------|---------------|
| Spotted Deer | Axis axis Erxleben, 1777 | Both | Artiodactyla | Cervidae | LC | Herbivorous |
| Hog Deer | Axis porcinus Zimmermann, 1780 | Both | Artiodactyla | Cervidae | EN | Herbivorous |
| Barasingha | Rucervus duvaucelii G. Cuvier, 1823 | Both | Artiodactyla | Cervidae | VU | Herbivorous |
| North Red Muntjac | Muntiacus vaginalis Boddaert, 1785 | IAPS absence | Artiodactyla | Cervidae | LC | Herbivorous |
| Cattle | Bos Taurus Linnaeus, 1758 | Both | Artiodactyla | Bovidae | LC | Herbivorous |
| Nilgai | Boselophus tragocamelus Pallas, 1766 | Both | Artiodactyla | Bovidae | LC | Herbivorous |
| Wild Boar | Sus scrofa Linnaeus, 1758 | Both | Artiodactyla | Suidae | LC | Omnivorous |
| Rhesus Monkey | Macaca mulatta Zimmermann, 1780 | Both | Primates | Cercopithecidae | LC | Herbivorous |
| Tarai Grey Langur | Semnopithecus hector Pocock, 1928 | Both | Primates | Cercopithecidae | NT | Herbivorous |
| Hispid Hare | Caprolagus hispidus Pearson, 1839 | Both | Lagomorpha | Leporidae | EN | Herbivorous |
| Indian Hare | Lepus nigricollis F. Cuvier, 1823 | Both | Lagomorpha | Leporidae | LC | Herbivorous |
| Indian Creasted Porcupine | Hystrix indica Kerr, 1792 | Both | Rodentia | Hystricidae | LC | Omnivorous |
| Five-stripped Palm Squirrel | Funambulus pennantii Wroughton,1905 | Both | Rodentia | Scuiridae | LC | Herbivorous |

| Asiatic Elephant | Elephas maximus Linnaeus, 1758 | Both | Proboscidea | Elephantidae | EN | Herbivorous |
|--------------------------|--|---------------|----------------|----------------|----|-------------|
| Greater One-horned Rhino | Rhinoceros unicornis Linnaeus, 1758 | Both | Perissodactyla | Rhinocerotidae | VU | Herbivorous |
| Bengal Fox | Vulpes bengalensis Shaw, 1800 | IAPS presence | Carnivora | Canidae | LC | Omnivorous |
| Golden Jackel | Canis aureus Linnaeus,1758 | Both | Carnivora | Canidae | LC | Omnivorous |
| Small Indian Civet | Viverricula indica Corbet and Hill, 1992 | Both | Carnivora | Viverridae | LC | Omnivorous |
| Indian Grey Mongoose | Herpestes edwardsii E. Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire, 1818 | Both | Carnivora | Herpestidae | LC | Omnivorous |
| Jungle Cat | Felis chaus Schreber, 1777 | Both | Carnivora | Felidae | LC | Carnivorous |
| Rusty Spotted Cat | Prionailurus rubiginosus I. Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire, 1831 | Both | Carnivora | Felidae | NT | Carnivorous |
| Fishing Cat | Prionailurus viverrinus Bennett,1833 | IAPS absence | Carnivora | Felidae | VU | Carnivorous |
| Leopard | Panthera pardus Linnaeus, 1758 | Both | Carnivora | Felidae | VU | Carnivorous |
| Bengal Tiger | Panthera tigris tigris Linnaeus, 1758 | Both | Carnivora | Felidae | EN | Carnivorous |
| Smooth Coated Otter | Lutrogale perspicillata I. Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire, 1826 | IAPS absence | Carnivora | Mustelidae | VU | Carnivorous |

The average elevation of the study area was 191.1 ± 14.91 m (SD) (range: 161 to 226 m), whereas 191 ± 14.91 m (SD) (range: 161 to 226 m) for IAPS invaded habitat and 190.5 ± 15.17 m (SD) (range: 163 to 221 m) for IAPS non-invaded habitat. Proportionally, more threatened mammal species occurrences was found in IAPS non-invaded habitat than IAPS invaded habitat, but there is not variation in their occurrence between invaded and non-invaded habitat ($\chi^2 = 0.767$, df = 1, p = 0.382). More threatened mammal species occurrence was found nearer the forest [35% (0-200 m); 15% (201-400 m); 10% (401-600 m); 13% (601-800 m); 11% (801-1000 m) and 10% (1001-1200 m)], but variation in their occurrence between IAPS invaded and IAPS non-invaded habitat (p < 0.001; Table 3). The average distance of IAPS non-invaded habitat to the nearest forest was 535.49 m (range: 0 to 1197.39) and 512.30 m (range: 0 to 1199.67) in IAPS invaded habitat (Table 3; Figure 9). More threatened mammal species occurrence was found far from the water sources [7.12% (0-1000 m); 11.22% (1001-2000 m); 5.96% (2001-3000); 20.6% (3001-4000 m); 21.43% (4001-5000 m); 6.12% (5001-6000 m) and 27.55% (6001-7000 m)], but no variation in their occurrence between IAPS invaded and IAPS non-invaded habitat (p = 0.808; Table 3). The average distance of IAPS non-invaded habitat to the nearest water sources was 1387.61 m (range: 66.85 to 3622.49 m), and 1589.52 m (range: 37.87 to 6496.98 m) in IAPS invaded habitat (Table 3; Figure 10).

More threatened mammal species occurrence was found far from the road [11.49% (0-500 m); 14.94% (501-1000 m); 20.69% (1001-1500 m); 27.59% (1501-2000 m) and 25.29% (2001-2500 m)], however, no variation in their occurrence between IAPS invaded and IAPS non-invaded habitat (p = 0.624; Table 3). The average distance of IAPS non-invaded habitat to the nearest road was 813.07 m (range: 54.53 to 2210.88 m), and 792.80 m (range: 11.02 to 2351.72 m) in IAPS invaded habitat (Table 3; Figure 11). Fewer threatened mammal species occurrence was found near the settlement area [7.95% (0-1500 m); 13.64% (1501-3000 m); 21.59% (3001-4500 m); 25% (4501-6000 m) and 31.82% (6001-7500 m)], thus significant between IAPS invaded and IAPS non-invaded habitat (p < 0.001; Table 3). The average distance of IAPS non-invaded habitat to the nearest settlement area was 2115.6 m (range: 295.9 to 4696.3 m) and 1867.7 m (116.9 to 7353.5) in IAPS invaded habitat (Table 3; Figure 12). Fewer threatened mammal species occurrence was found near the agricultural land [5.21% (0-1500 m); 15.63% (1500-3000 m); 26.04% (3001-4500

m); 23.96% (4501-6000 m) and 29.17% (6001-7500 m)], so significant between IAPS invaded and IAPS non-invaded habitat (p = 0.0001; Table 4). The average distance of IAPS non-invaded habitat to the nearest agricultural land was 2070.7 m (range: 257.8 to 4696.3 m) and 1816.6 m (116.9 to 7329.1 m) in IAPS invaded habitat (Table 4; Figure 13).

Table 3: Threatened mammal species presence in IAPS presence and absence habitats of Shuklaphanta National Park, Kanchanpur, Nepal 2021. Range of reported values are given in parentheses. *Significant effects are in bold, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

| Variables | IAPS presence | IAPS absence | Statistics |
|--------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------------------|
| | habitat (median) | habitat (median) | (Mann-Whitney |
| | | | test) |
| Distance to forest | 512 (0-1200) | 535 (0-1197) | U =5543; p < 0.001 |
| Distance to water | 1590 (38-6497) | 1388 (67-3623) | U =5619; p = 0.808 |
| Distance to road | 793 (11-2352) | 813 (55-2211) | U =5729; p = 0.624 |
| Distance to human | 1868 (117-7354) | 2116(296-4696) | U = 7186; p < |
| settlement | | | 0.001 |
| Distance to | 1817 (117-7329) | 2071(258-4696) | U = 7182; p < |
| agricultural field | | | 0.001 |







Figure 6: Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invaded habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest water source,



Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021



Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021



Figure 8: Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invaded habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest human settlement, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021



Figure 9: Frequency of occurrence of threatened mammal species in IAPS invaded habitat (A) and IAPS non-invaded habitat (B) compared to nearest agricultural land, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

Table 4: Model- averaged variables estimates describing the threatened mammal species presence in the IAPS invaded habitat of Shuklaphanta National Park Nepal. Model variables include invasive alien plants species cover, distance to forest (m), distance to water (m), distance to road (m). Estimates were averaged from all models. *Significant effects are in bold, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

| Variables | Estimate | SE | Z | Р |
|-------------------------------|----------|-------|--------|-------|
| (Intercept) | -1.351 | 0.518 | -2.609 | 0.009 |
| Invasive alien plant species | | | | |
| cover | 0.227 | 0.364 | 0.625 | 0.532 |
| Tree canopy | 0.000 | 0.004 | 0.086 | 0.932 |
| Distance to forest | -0.003 | 0.001 | -3.288 | 0.001 |
| Distance to road | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.028 | 0.978 |
| Distance to agricultural land | 0.001 | 0.000 | 3.677 | 0.000 |
| Distance to water | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.233 | 0.816 |

5. DISCUSSION

This study documents the abundance of IAPS in the Shuklaphanta National Park (ShNP) and their impact on the habitat utilization of mammal species in ShNP. Among the 11 IAPS invaded in the study area, the Blue Billygoat Weed is abundant species. The effect of IAPS invasion on the mammal species in overall is not remarkable, however, the threatened mammal species avoids their invaded habitat. Their effect to the threatened mammal species might be mainly due to habitat loss and lack of palatable plant species by the IAPS invasion (Murphy et al. 2013). The study on the effect of Mesquite on the Blackbuck population revealed that IAPS had a negative effect on the mammal species (Arandhara et al. 2021), and indicated that the spatial detectability and density distribution of Blackbuck increase significantly with the extent of grassland, habitat openness and grass biomass, but decreases with Mesquite cover. This study suggested that IAPS reduce the abundance of common native species, this might be due to effect of IAPS on the chemical properties of the abiotic factors (Timsina et al. 2011).

5.1 Plant invasions in ShNP

Shuklaphanta National Park is experiencing an invasion that is escalating gradually. Although there hasn't been much invasion of the grasslands up to this point, however, if the invasion continues, it may also suffer the problem as Chitwan National Park. Where there was a lot of livestock and human disturbance, the invasion was more noticeable. The dissemination of the IAPS inside the park is aided by the fact that people rely on the park for the collecting of thatch and fodder. These upheavals gave invasive alien plant species a chance to colonize the park. Additionally, the invasion was noticeably worse in the park's wetlands. Lantana camara and Parthenium hysterophorus, which are among the worst in the world, were spotted in the park (Bhandari 2019).

5.2 Impacts of IAPS on mammal species

In this study, forest seem less affected by the invasion of IAPS, this could be due to the formation of dense wall from adjacent vegetation. This reduces the interior lighting and wind speeds, which might lower the probability of IAPS establishment in the interior of the forest (Hansen and Clevenger 2005). Thus, more threatened mammal species were noticed at nearer to forest in this study too, it was probably due to availability of more grazing area. As the forest carry immense amount of biodiversity, spreading of IAPS in forests is a special cause for concern as it may change forest structure and composition, affecting native species assemblages (Aravind et al. 2006).

In this study, the abundance of IAPS is higher near the water sources, this might be due to the flow of propagules along the current of water, as river served as corridors for the dispersal of IAPS (Parendes and Jones 2000). Besides, the rivers provide suitable habitat and act as reservoir of propagules for further invasions (Parendes and Jones 2000). Thus, the IAPS abundance was higher at nearer to water sources. Furthermore, IAPS affected water supply in different way, such as, increased disease vector, increased microbial activities, and biochemical oxygen demand (Howard and Matindi 2012). Therefore, these areas might be avoided by the threatened mammal species. Thus, the occurrence of threatened mammal species decreases at nearer to the water source in IAPS invaded habitat.

In this study, the abundance of IAPS is higher nearer the road, this might be due to the dispersal of seed through vehicles as well as contaminant of transport materials. Thus road facilitates the dispersal of seed to new site (Shrestha et al. 2019). In addition, the road edges provide suitable microhabitats for IAPS establishment and serve as dispersal corridor for species like Parthenium (Shrestha 2018). Furthermore, a number of direct road connect thousands of vehicles, through these road various IAPS thought to have dispersed. A study conducted in China revealed that most of the current areas predicted to be suitable for Crofton Weed were found along road edges and river complex (Wang and Wang 2006) and these river and road complex had enhanced the rapid spread of Crofton Weed (Dong et al. 2008, Sang et al. 2010).

Besides, there was significant relationship between type of road and the frequency of the weed's occurrence. The study carried out in Manas National Park of India, also suggested that roads have significantly influenced the occurrence of IAPS namely, Siam Weed and Mile-a-minute Weed (Nath et al. 2019). But the level of invasion from IAPS nearer to roads might be different, expected for more invasion in frequently used road tracks than in infrequently used road tracks (Parendes and Jones

2000). Therefore, the threatened mammal species occurrence was higher at distance from the road, as it possessed lower abundance of IAPS.

In this study, the abundance of IAPS is also higher closer to human settlement, this might be due to the facilitation in the dispersal of IAPS through various human activities. Plant invasion have been assisted by the migration and infrastructure development such as road constructions across landscapes (Shrestha and Shrestha 2021). In the hilly region of Nepal, migration had taken in pursuit of better opportunities (Jaquet et al. 2015). Due to this, remarkable proportion of farmland were abandoned (Jaquet et al. 2015). This had allowed natural regrowth of vegetation including IAPS. Several species of IAPS were introduced as ornamental plants (Jackson 1994) and botanical collection in botanic gardens outside of their native range (Shrestha et al. 2016). Therefore, IAPS abundance was higher nearer to settlement area (Shrestha 2016). Hence, the occurrence of threatened mammal species was not so much nearer to human settlement.

In this study, the abundance of IAPS also higher nearer the agricultural land. Though Nepal is agricultural country, various agricultural products are imported every year and along with these contaminant imported agricultural product various IAPS species get introduced (Shrestha and Shrestha 2021). It was probably due to agricultural practices and seed dispersal through manures (Shrestha 2016). Sometimes, IAPS such as Parthenium used as an animal bedding (Shrestha et al. 2015).

In this study, highly invaded habitat of study area were avoided by threatened mammal species. Like in Chitwan National Park (Murphy et al. 2013), Bardia National Park (Bhatta et al. 2020) and Parsa Wildlife Reserve (Chaudhary et al. 2020), a lot of principal habitat of threatened species were encroached by IAPS in Shuklaphata National Park too. The ShNP has important habitat for threatened species such as Swamp Deer and Spotted Deer, seems reduced as a result of invasion of unpalatable plant species. The impacts associated with the encroachment comprised the loss of preferable habitat for ungulates (Thapa et al. 2018).

From this study, it was revealed that the effect of IAPS was higher on threatened mammal species. The IAPS invasion into open grasslands affects the Blackbuck directly by reducing the habitat openness, and also indirectly by reducing the grass biomass on which it feeds (Arandhara et al. 2021). The invasion of Ipomoea in

grassland was the biggest threat to the Greater One-horned Rhino habitat in Pabitora Wildlife Sanctuary (Lahkar et al. 2011). Sarma et al. (2009) highlighted the number of Greater One-horned Rhino straying from the sanctuary due to changes in grassland dynamics.

Likewise, the Hispid Hare are currently facing unusual challenges from habitat loss (Ahrestani and Sankaran 2016). On the distribution of herbivores, it should focus primarily on the function of biotic factors like habitat and quality and quantity of food resources. Globally, the distribution and abundance of large herbivores have been significantly influenced by impacts on habitats and resources. Among the IAPS invasion effects, the reduced resources for native plant species and altering their functioning of ecosystem is critical for biodiversity conservation, and also can impact on the survival of wildlife population.

5.3 Implications for IAPS management

Three main approaches are used to manage invasive species: prevention, eradication, and control (Radocevich et al. 2009). In order to prevent the entry of potentially invasive alien species, stringent quarantine and ongoing monitoring are necessary. It is the original and most effective technique for managing invasive species, but given the globalization of trade and rising levels of human mobility, even a partial application is ineffective. Preventing the arrival of invasive alien plant species into Nepal is nearly impossible due to the open border with India and heavy trade dependence. Eradication is the total elimination of an invasive species from its native habitat or geographic area, and it is only achievable when the species is restricted to a small area. However, invasive alien plant species spread quickly and rapidly cover wide regions, by the time management recognize the issue and begin to take action, it is frequently too late to eradicate the problem.

Control involves limiting the number of invasive species in the area that has been invaded and halting their spread to lessen their negative effects on the ecology and economy. It may or may not lead to the eradication of certain species from a certain area. Due to the high quantity and extensive presence of IAPS, only method available for managing IAPS across landscapes is "control". Integration of physical, chemical, and biological techniques is necessary for the regulation of the IAPS. The management efforts of IAPS have taught us several important lessons, one of which is that eliminating these weeds with just one strategy is ineffective. To properly manage the IAPS, a set of intervention techniques must be carefully chosen (Bhandari 2019). Unfortunately, Nepal has not yet begun the methodical and scientific management of the IAPS. However, communities and development partners have made some attempts to manage a few IAPS by exploiting their biomass to meet demand for energy and organic manure. Physical removal of IAPS has been used in wetlands. For instance, *Eichhornia crassipes* is routinely eradicated from Chitwan's Beeshajari Lake System (a Ramsar site).

The use of biological control agents is a crucial component of biological IAPS management strategies. In Nepal, biological control agents are present only for two IAPS: Leaf Feeding Beetle (*Zygogramma bicolorata*) and Winter Rust (*Puccinia abrupta*) for Parthenium (Shrestha et al. 2015). Stone and Leaf Spot Fungus (*Passalora ageratinae*) for *Ageratina adenophora* (Hinz et al. 2019). However, these biological control agents were not introduced officially after quarantine screening but spread naturally into Nepal from India and other Asian countries. *Z. bicolorata* seems to be the most effective biological control agent of IAPS present in Nepal but its population is still small and their effectiveness is erratic with year to year variation (Shrestha et al. 2015). For effective control of *P. hysterophorus*, it seems necessary that the control by *Z. bicolorata* need to be complemented by other biological control agents, displacement by competitive plant species, and other cultural, physical and chemical measure (Adkins and Shabbir 2014).

6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusion

The abundance of IAPS decreases with the decreasing of distance from the forest. This might be due to the slightest disturbance in the forest. As a result, the occurrence of threatened mammal species nearer the forest is increasing. In contrast, IAPS invasion is high near water sources, roads, human settlements, and agricultural land, as they are widely distributed and also frequently come into contract with invasion. Thus, these habitats are less preferred by threatened mammal species. A better understanding regarding the phenomena and management option to this biodiversity threat is necessary to guide managers, policy makers, researchers and the general public.

Worldwide mammal species are declining so an area specific management plan is necessary to prevent this trend in the ShNP as these areas also have near threatened, endangered and vulnerable mammal species.

6.2 Recommendations

Following recommendations are highlighted on the basis of observation and result of entire study:

- Now a days, road and vehicles are major sources for the dispersion of IAPS propagules. Thus, regular cleaning of means of transportation may help in reducing invasion of IAPS.
- Well managed quarantine system will also be the effective way to prevent invasion.
- Regular monitoring will be helpful to avoid introducing species disasters.
- Introduction of various biological agents may control rapid spreading of IAPS in some level. Along with this, different physical and chemical approaches can also be useful to eradicate and control IAPS.
- Yearly survey of the habitat of mammal species must be take place.

REFERENCES

- Adhikari, J.N., Bhattarai, B.P., Rokaya, M.B. and Thapa, T.B. 2022. Distribution of invasive plants and their association with wild ungulates in Barandabhar Corridor Forest, Nepal. Folia Oecologica 49(2): 182-191. https://doi.org/10.2478/foecol-2022-0021
- Adhikari, S., Sharma, H.P., Rimal, B., Belant, J.L. and Katuwal, H.B. 2020. Road as a major driver for potential distribution of the invasive giant African land snail in Nepal. Tropical Ecology 61(4): 583-588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42965-020-00115-4
- Adkins, S. and Shabbir, A. 2014. Biology, ecology and management of the invasive parthenium weed (*Parthenium hysterophorus* L.). Pest Management Science 70(7): 1023-1029.
- Ahrestani, F.S. and Sankaran, M. 2016. The ecology of large herbivores in south and Southeast Asia 2nd ed. Springer, Dordrecht, 225 p.
- Allen, J.A., Brown, C.S. and Stohlgren, T.J. (2009). Non-native plant invasions of United States National Parks. Biological Invasions 11(1): 2195-2207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-008-9376-1
- Andreu, J., Vila, M. and Hulme, P.E. (2009). An assessment of stakeholder perceptions and management of noxious alien plants in Spain. Environmental Management 43(1): 1244-1255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-009-9280-1
- Arandhara, S., Sathishkumar, S., Gupta, S. and Baskaran, N. 2021. Influence of invasive *Prosopis juliflora* on the distribution and ecology of native blackbuck in protected areas of Tamil Nadu, India. European Journal of Wildlife Research 67(3): 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-021-01485-3
- Aravind, N., Rao, D., Ganeshaiah, K., Uma Shaanker, R. and Poulsen, J.G. 2010. Impact of the invasive plant, *Lantana camara*, on bird assemblages at Male Mahadeshwara Reserve Forest, South India. Tropical Ecology 51(2S): 325-338. http://tropecol.com/pdf/open/PDF_51_2S/J-04.pdf

- Arismendi, I. and Nahuelhual, L. 2007. Non-native salmon and trout recreational fishing in Lake Llanquihue, southern Chile: economic benefits and management implications. Reviews in Fisheries Science 15(4): 311-325. https://doi.org/10.1080/10641260701484655
- Baker, H.G. (1986). Patterns of Plant Invasion in North America. In: Mooney, H.A., Drake, J.A. (Eds.). Ecology of Biological Invasions of North America and Hawaii. Springer, New York, USA, p. 44-57. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4988-7_3
- Baret, S., Cournac, L., Thébaud, C., Edwards, P. and Strasberg, D. 2008. Effects of canopy gap size on recruitment and invasion of the non-indigenous *Rubus alceifolius* in lowland tropical rain forest on Réunion. Journal of Tropical Ecology 24(3): 337-345. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467408004987
- Basaula, R., Sharma, H.P., Belant, J.L. and Sapkota, K. 2021. Invasive water hyacinth limits globally threatened waterbird abundance and diversity at Lake Cluster of Pokhara Valley, Nepal. Sustainability 13(24): 13700. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132413700
- Baskaran, N., Kannan, V., Thiyagesan, K. and Desai, A.A. 2011. Behavioural ecology of four-horned antelope (*Tetracerus quadricornis* de Blainville, 1816) in the tropical forests of southern India. Mammalian Biology **76**(6): 741-747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mambio.2011.06.010
- Belz, R.G., Reinhardt, C.F., Foxcroft, L.C. and Hurle, K. 2007. Residue allelopathy in *Parthenium hysterophorus* L. Does parthenin play a leading role? Crop Protection 26(3): 237-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2005.06.009
- Bhandari, R. 2019. Occurrence of invasive alien plant species (IAPS) in the habitat of Swamp Deer (Cervus duvaucelii Cuvier, 1823) of Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal. M.Sc. Thesis. Central Department of Zoology, Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Bhatta, S., Joshi, L.R. and Shrestha, B.B. 2020. Distribution and impact of invasive alien plant species in Bardia National Park, western Nepal. Environmental Conservation 47(3): 197-205. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0376892920000223

- Bhattarai, B.R., Wright, W., Poudel, B.S., Aryal, A., Yadav, B.P. and Wagle, R. 2017. Shifting paradigms for Nepal's protected areas: history, challenges and relationships. Journal of Mountain Science 14(5): 964-979. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-016-3980-9
- Bhattarai, P. 2012. Threats on grassland ecosystem services: a case from Shuklaphanta Wildlife Reserve. Nepal Journal of Science and Technology 13(2): 159-166. https://doi.org/10.3126/njst.v13i2.7729
- Bot, J.T. 2003. Diversity, abundance and economic use of flowering plants in Royal Shuklaphanta Wildlife Reserve, Nepal. Journal of Economic and Taxonomic Botany 27(1): 272003.
- Bradley, B.A., Allen, J.M., O'Neill, M.W., Wallace, R.D., Bargeron, C.T., Richburg,
 J.A., et al. 2018. Invasive species risk assessments need more consistent
 spatial abundance data. Ecosphere 9(7): e02302.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2302
- Brooks, M.L., D'antonio, C.M., Richardson, D.M., Grace, J.B., Keeley, J.E.,
 DiTomaso, J.M., et al. 2004. Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes.
 BioScience 54(7): 677-688. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0677:EOIAPO]2.0.CO;2
- Brown, B.J., Mitchell, R.J. and Graham, S.A. 2002. Competition for pollination between an invasive species (purple loosestrife) and a native congener. Ecology 83(8): 2328-2336. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[2328:CFPBAI]2.0.CO;2
- Charles, H., Dukes, J.S. (2008). Impacts of invasive species on ecosystem services. In Nentwig, W. (Eds.). Biological Invasions. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany. p. 217-237. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-36920-2_13
- Chaudhary, R.P., Upreti, Y. and Rimal, S.K. 2016. Deforestation in Nepal: causes, consequences and responses. In: Sivanpillai R (Eds). Biological and environmental hazards, risks, and disasters. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p. 335–372.

- Chaudhary, R., Shrestha, B.B., Thapa, H. and Siwakoti, M., 2020. Status and impacts of invasive alien plant species in Parsa National Park, Central Nepal. Banko Janakari, **30**(1): 21-31. https://doi.org/10.3126/banko.v30i1.29179
- Cook, C.N., Hockings, M. and Carter, R.W. (2010). Conservation in the dark? The information used to support management decisions. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 8(4): 181-186. https://doi.org/10.1890/090020
- Curtis, J.T. 1959. The vegetation of Wisconsin: an ordination of plant communities. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, USA, p 640.
- Dong, S., Cui, B., Yang, Z., Liu, S., Liu, J., Ding, Z., et al. 2008. The role of road disturbance in the dispersal and spread of *Ageratina adenophora* along the Dian–Myanmar International Road. Weed Research 48(3): 282-288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.2008.00640.x
- Dutra, H.P., Barnett, K., Reinhardt, J.R., Marquis, R.J. and Orrock, J.L. 2011. Invasive plant species alters consumer behavior by providing refuge from predation. Oecologia 166(3): 649-657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1895-7
- Ferdinands, K., Beggs, K. and Whitehead, P. 2005. Biodiversity and invasive grass species: multiple-use or monoculture? Wildlife Research 32(5): 447-457. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR04036
- Foxcroft, L.C., Rouget, M. and Richardson, D.M. 2007. Risk assessment of riparian plant invasions into protected areas. Conservation Biology **21**(2): 412-421. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00673.x
- Freeman, E.D., Sharp, T.R., Larsen, R.T., Knight, R.N., Slater, S.J. and McMillan, B.R. 2014. Negative effects of an exotic grass invasion on small-mammal communities. PLoS One 9(9): e108843. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108843
- Gaertner, M., Breeyen, A.D., Hui, C. and Richardson, D.M. 2009. Impacts of alien plant invasions on species richness in Mediterranean-type ecosystems: a metaanalysis. Progress in Physical Geography 33(3): 319-338. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133309341607

- GISP (2007). Invasive Alien Species And Protected Areas: A Scoping Report Part I. Scoping the Scale and Nature of Invasive Alien Species Threats to Protected Areas, Impediments to Management and Means to Address those Impediments. Global Invasive Species Programme (GISP), Available online at www.gisp.org/publications/reports/IAS_ProtectedAreas_Scoping_I.pdf as of March 10, 2013.
- Groves, R.H. (2002). The impacts of alien plants in Australia. In Biological Invasions: Economic and Environmental Costs of Alien Plant, Animal, and Microbe Species, Pimentel, D. (eds.) Taylor and Francis, London, U.K., pp. 11-24
- Hansen, M.J. and Clevenger, A.P. 2005. The influence of disturbance and habitat on the presence of non-native plant species along transport corridors. Biological Conservation 125(2): 249-259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.03.024
- Hardesty-Moore, M., Orr, D. and McCauley, D.J. 2020. Invasive plant Arundo donax alters habitat use by carnivores. Biological Invasions 22(6): 1983-1995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-020-02234-4
- Hartman, K.M. and McCarthy, B.C. 2008. Changes in forest structure and species composition following invasion by a non-indigenous shrub, Amur Honeysuckle (*Lonicera maackii*). The Journal of The Torrey Botanical Society **135**(2): 245-259. https://doi.org/10.3159/07-RA-036.1
- Hellmann, J.J., Byers, J.E., Bierwagen, B.G. and Dukes, J.S. 2008. Five potential consequences of climate change for invasive species. Conservation Biology 22(3): 534-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00951.x</u>
- Hinz, H.L., Winston, R.L. and Schwarzlander, M., 2019. How safe is weed biological control? A global review of direct nontarget attack. The Quarterly Review of Biology 94(1): 1-27.
- Hulme, P.E. (2012). Weed risk assessment: a way forward or a waste of time? Journal of Applied Ecology, **49**(1): 10-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02069.x

- Hulme, P.E., Pysek, P., Pergl, J., Jarosik, V., Schaffner, U. and Vila, M. 2014. Greater focus needed on alien plant impacts in protected areas. Conservation Letters 7(5): 459-466. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12061
- IUCN. 2022. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2022-1. https://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed on 26 August 2022.
- Jackson, J.K. 1994. Manual of afforestation in Nepal 2nd ed. Forest Research and Survey Center, Kathmandu, 18 p.
- Jaquet, S., Schwilch, G., Hartung-Hofmann, F., Adhikari, A., Sudmeier-Rieux, K., Shrestha, G., et al. 2015. Does outmigration lead to land degradation? Labour shortage and land management in a western Nepal watershed. Applied Geography 62: 157-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.04.013
- Joshi, A.A., Mudappa, D. and Raman, T.S. 2015. Invasive alien species in relation to edges and forest structure in tropical rainforest fragments of the Western Ghats. Tropical Ecology **56**(2): 233-244.
- Khaniya, L. and Shrestha, B.B. 2020. Forest regrowth reduces richness and abundance of invasive alien plant species in community managed *Shorea robusta* forests of central Nepal. Journal of Ecology and Environment 44(1): 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41610-020-00158-7
- Knight, T.M., Dunn, J.L., Smith, L.A., Davis, J. and Kalisz, S. 2009. Deer Facilitate Invasive Plant Success in a Pennsylvania Forest Understory. Natural Areas Journal 29(2): 110-116. https://doi.org/10.3375/043.029.0202
- Kohli, R.K., Batish, D.R., Singh, H.P. and Dogra, K.S. 2006. Status, invasiveness and environmental threats of three tropical American invasive weeds (*Parthenium hysterophorus L., Ageratum conyzoides L., Lantana camara L.*) in India. Biological Invasions 8(7): 1501-1510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-005-5842-1
- Kull, C.A., Tassin, J. and Rangan, H. 2007. Multifunctional, Scrubby, and Invasive Forests? Mountain Research and Development 27(3): 224-231. https://doi.org/10.1659/mrd.0864

- Lahkar, B., Talukdar, B. and Sarma, P. 2011. Invasive species in grassland habitat: an ecological threat to the greater one-horned rhino (*Rhinoceros unicornis*).
 Pachyderm 49: 33-39. https://pachydermjournal.org/index.php/pachyderm/article/view/248
- Lambert, A.M., Dudley, T.L. and Saltonstall, K. 2010. Ecology and impacts of the large-statured invasive grasses *Arundo donax* and *Phragmites australis* in North America. Invasive Plant Science and Management 3(4): 489-494. https://doi.org/10.1614/IPSM-D-10-00031.1
- Loope, L.L., Sanchez, P.G., Tarr, P.W., Loope, W.L. and Anderson, R.L. (1988). Biological invasions of arid land nature reserves. Biological Conservation, 44(2): 95-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(88)90006-7
- Lowe, S., Browne, S.M., Boudjrlas, S. and Poorter, D.M. 2000. 100 of the world's worst invasive alien species: A selection from the global invasive species database 2nd ed. The Invasive Species Specialists Group (ISSG), New Zealand, 12 p.
- Mack, R.N., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Evans, H., Clout, M. and Bazzaz, F. A.
 2000. Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecological Applications 10(3): 689-710. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0689:BICEGC]2.0.CO;2
- McNab, W.H. and Loftis, D.L. 2002. Probability of occurrence and habitat features for oriental bittersweet in an oak forest in the southern Appalachian Mountains, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 155(1-3): 45-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00546-1
- Meyerson, L.A. and Mooney, H.A., 2007. Invasive alien species in an era of globalization. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5(4): 199-208. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[199:IASIAE]2.0.CO;2
- MFSC 2014. Nepal National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan 2014-2020. Ministry of Forest and Soil Conservation (MFSC), Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: biodiversity synthesis. World Resources Institute, Washington. D.C., USA.

- Mooney. H.A, Mack, R.N, McNeely, J.A, Neville, L.E, Schei, P.J. and Waage, J.K.
 2005. Invasive Alien Species: a new synthesis 2nd ed. Island Press,
 Washington DC, USA, 357 p.
- Murphy, S.T., Subedi, N., Jnawali, S.R., Lamichhane, B.R., Upadhyay, G.P., Kock, R., et al. 2013. Invasive Mikania in Chitwan National Park, Nepal: the threat to the greater one-horned rhino *Rhinoceros unicornis* and factors driving the invasion. Oryx **47**(3): 361-368. https://doi.org/10.1017/s003060531200124x
- Nath, A., Sinha, A., Lahkar, B.P. and Brahma, N. 2019. In search of aliens: factors influencing the distribution of *Chromolaena odorata* L. and *Mikania micrantha* Kunth in the Terai grasslands of Manas National Park, India. Ecological Engineering 131: 16-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2019.02.012
- Ogutu, J.O. and Owen- Smith, N. 2003. ENSO, rainfall and temperature influences on extreme population declines among African savanna ungulates. Ecology Letters **6**(5): 412-419. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00447.x
- Parendes, L.A. and Jones, J.A. 2000. Role of light availability and dispersal in exotic plant invasion along roads and streams in the HJ Andrews Experimental Forest, Oregon. Conservation Biology 14(1): 64-75. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2000.99089.x
- Pathak, H.N., Bhuju, D.R., Shrestha, B.B. and Ranjitkar, S. 2021. Impacts of invasive alien plants on ecosystem services of Ramsar lake cluster in middle mountain Nepal. Global Ecology and Conservation 27: e01597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01597
- Pejchar, L. and Mooney, H.A. 2009. Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being. Trend in Ecology and Evolution 24(9): 497-504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.03.016.
- Poudyal, L.P., Lamichhane, B.R., Baral, H,S. and Basnet, H. 2020. Wild mammals of the Shuklaphanta National Park 1st ed. Shuklaphata National Park and Himalayan Nature, Kathmandu, Nepal, 192p.

- Pysek, P., Sadlo, J., Mandak, B. and Jarosik, V. 2003. Czech alien flora and the historical pattern of its formation: what came first to Central Europe? Oecologia 135: 122-130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-002-1170-7
- Pysek, P., Richardson, D.M., Rejmánek, M., Webster, G.L., Williamson, M. and Kirschner, J. 2004. Alien plants in checklists and floras: towards better communication between taxonomists and ecologists. Taxon 53(1): 131-143. https://doi.org/10.2307/4135498
- Pysek, P., Jarosik, V., Hulme, P.E., Pergl, J., Hejda, M., Schaffner, U., et al. 2012. A global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species, communities and ecosystems: the interaction of impact measures, invading species' traits and environment. Global Change Biology 18(5): 1725-1737. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02636.x
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.Rproject.org/.
- Radeloff, V.C., Stewart, S.I., Hawbaker, T.J., Gimmi, U., Pidgeon, A.M., Flather, C.H., et al. (2010). Housing growth in and near United States protected areas limits their conservation value. Biological Science **107**(2): 940- 945. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0911131107
- Radocevich, S.R., Prather, T., Ghersa, C.M. and Lass, L. 2009. Implementing science based invasive plant management. In Management of Invasive Weeds, Inderjit (eds.). Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 345-359. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9202-2_17
- Rai, P.K. and Singh, J. 2020. Invasive alien plant species: Their impact on environment, ecosystem services and human health. Ecological Indicators 111: 106020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.106020
- Rashid, H., Khan, M.A., Amin, A., Nawab, K., Hussain, N. and Bhowmik, P.K. 2008. Effect of *Parthenium hysterophorus* L., root extracts on seed germination and growth of Maize and Barley. The Americas Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology 2(2): 51-55.

- Rerani, R. 2019. The effects of an invasive alien plant (*Chromolaena odorata*) on large African mammals. M.Sc. Thesis. College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa
- Richardson, D.M., Allsopp, N., D'Antonio, C.M., Milton, S.J. and Rejmanek, M., 2000. Plant invasions – the role of mutualisms. Biological Reviews 75(1): 65-93. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0006323199005435
- Sang, W., Zhu, L. and Axmacher, J.C. 2010. Invasion pattern of *Eupatorium adenophorum* Spreng in southern China. Biological Invasions 12(6): 1721-1730. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-009-9584-3
- Sarma, P., Talukdar, B., Sarma, K. and Barua, M. 2009. Assessment of habitat change and threats to the greater one-horned rhino (*Rhinoceros unicornis*) in Pabitora Wildlife Sanctuary, Assam, using multi-temporal satellite data. Pachyderm 46: 18-24.
- Shackleton, R.T., Le Maitre, D.C., Van Wilgen, B.W. and Richardson, D.M. 2015. The impact of invasive alien *Prosopis* species (Mesquite) on native plants in different environments in South Africa. South African Journal of Botany 97: 25-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2014.12.008
- Shrestha, B.B., Shabbir, A., Adkins, S.W. and Bourdot, G. 2015a. Parthenium hysterophorus in Nepal: a review of its weed status and possibilities for management. Weed Research 55(2): 132-144. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12133
- Shrestha, B.B., Shabbir, A. and Adkins, S. 2015b. Parthenium hysterophorus in Nepal: a review of its weed status and possibilities for management. Weed Research 55(2): 132-144. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12133
- Shrestha, B.B. 2016. Invasive alien plant species in Nepal. *In* Frontiers of Botany Jha, P.K., Siwakoti, M. and Rajbhandary, S. (Eds.). Central Department of Botany, Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur, Kathmandu. p. 269-284.
- Shrestha B.B., Siwakoti M. and Ranjit J.D. 2017. Status of invasive alien plant species in Nepal. Conservation and utilization of agricultural plant genetic resources in Nepal. In: Joshi, B.K., K.C, H.B., Acharya, A.K. (Eds.).

Proceedings of 2nd National Workshop, 22-23 May 2017, Dhulikhel Kathmandu, Nepal. NAGRC, FDD, DoA and MoAD: 446-452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.07.009

- Shrestha, B.B., Shrestha, U.B., Sharma, K.P., Thapa, R.B., Devkota, A. and Siwakoti, M. 2018. Community perception and prioritization of invasive alien plants in Chitwan-Annapurna Landscape, Nepal. Journal of Environmental Management 229: 38-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.06.034
- Shrestha, B.B., Pokhrel, K., Paudel, N., Poudel, S., Shabbir, A. and Adkins, S. 2019a. Distribution of *Parthenium hysterophorus* and one of its biological control agents (Coleoptera: *Zygogramma bicolorata*) in Nepal. Weed Research **59**(6): 467-478. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12384
- Shrestha, B.B. 2019b. Management of invasive alien plant species in Nepal: current practices and future prospects. In: Garkoti, S.C., van Bloem, S., Fule, P.Z., and Semwal, R.L. (Eds.). Tropical Ecosystems: Structure, Functions and Global Change, Springer Nature Singapore. p. 45-68. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8249-9_4
- Shrestha, B.B. and Shrestha, K.K. 2021. Invasions of alien plant species in Nepal. In Patterns and process, Pullaiah, T. and Lelmini, M.R. (Eds.). Wiley Online Library, Nepal. p. 168-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119607045.ch20
- Simberloff, D. 2000. Global climate change and introduced species in United States forests. Science of the Total Environment 262(3): 253-261. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(00)00527-1
- Simberloff, D. 2009. The role of propagule pressure in biological invasions. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics **40**(1): 81-102.
- Singh, H.P., Batish, D.R., Dogra, K.S., Kaur, S., Kohli, R.K. and Negi, A. 2014. Negative effect of litter of invasive weed *Lantana camara* on structure and composition of vegetation in the lower Siwalik Hills, northern India. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment **186**(6): 3379-3389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-014-3624-x

- Thapa, S., Chitale, V., Rijal, S.J., Bisht, N. and Shrestha, B.B. 2018. Understanding the dynamics in distribution of invasive alien plant species under predicted climate change in Western Himalaya. PLoS One 13(4): e0195752. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0195752
- Timsina, B., Shrestha, B.B., Rokaya, M.B. and Munzbergova, Z. 2011. Impact of *Parthenium hysterophorus* L. invasion on plant species composition and soil properties of grassland communities in Nepal. Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants **206**(3): 233-240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.flora.2010.09.004
- Tyson, M.J. 2007. The ecology of Muntjak Deer (*Muntiacus muntjak*) in Baluran National Park, Java and their interactions with other mammal species. PhD. Thesis. Manchester Metropolitan University, England, UK.
- Utz, R.M., Slater, A., Rosche, H.R. and Carson, W.P. 2020. Do dense layers of invasive plants elevate the foraging intensity of small mammals in temperate deciduous forests? A case study from Pennsylvania, USA. NeoBiota 56: 73-88. https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.56.49581
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J.L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P.E., Jarosik, V., Maron, J.L., et al. 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta- analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. Ecology Letters 14(7): 702-708. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01628.x
- Vitousek, P.M., D'Antonio, C.M., Loope, L.L. and Westbrooks, R. 1996. Biological invasions as global environmental change. American Scientist **84**(5): 468-478.
- Wang, R. and Wang, Y.Z. 2006. Invasion dynamics and potential spread of the invasive alien plant species *Ageratina adenophora* (Asteraceae) in China. Diversity and Distributions **12**(4): 397-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1366-9516.2006.00250.x
- Yijing, C., Xiongfei, P., Maoxin, Z., Qiaosheng, D. and Yuying, D. 2003. Oviposition repellent of alcohol extracts of 26 non-preferable plant species against citrus leafminer. Journal of South China Agricultural University 24(3): 27-29.

Zhang, M., Ling, B., Chen, S., Liang, G. and Pang, X. 2004. Repellent and oviposition deterrent activities of the essential oil from *Mikania micrantha* and its compounds on *Plutella xylostella*. Insect Science **11**(1): 37-45.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7917.2004.tb00178.x

Zobel, D.B., Behan, M.J., Jha, P.K., Yadav, U.R. (1987) A practical manual for ecology. Ratna Book Distributors, Kathmandu, Nepal.

APPENDICES

Supplementary Table 1: Model- averaged variables estimates describing the mammal species presence in the IAPS presence habitat of Shuklaphanta National Park Nepal. Model variables include invasive alien plant species cover, distance to forest (m), distance to water (m), distance to road (m). Estimates were averaged from all models, Shuklaphanta National Park, Nepal, 2021

| Variables | Estimate | SE | Ζ | Р |
|-------------------------|----------|-------|--------|-------|
| (Intercept) | 2.575 | 2.478 | 1.039 | 0.299 |
| Invasive alien plant | | | | |
| species cover | 0.012 | 0.013 | 0.898 | 0.369 |
| Tree canopy | 0.000 | 0.024 | -0.012 | 0.991 |
| Distance to forest | -0.005 | 0.003 | -1.698 | 0.090 |
| Distance to road | -0.004 | 0.003 | -1.665 | 0.096 |
| Distance to agriculture | 0.000 | 0.002 | 0.202 | 0.840 |
| Distance to water | 0.001 | 0.001 | 1.136 | 0.256 |

PHOTO PLATES



Rhesus Monkey feeding on nuts



Swamp Deer herds at Shuklaphanta





Bengal Fox spotted on Fireline



Spotted Deer Fecal

Common Leopard in search of prey



Wild Boar Fecal





Greater One-horned Rhino footmark

Quadrat establishment

Bengal Tiger Pugmark



During survey

.